# Groton-Dunstable Regional High School

## Student Handbook

**FINAL as of May 30, 2018** 

Reviewed by district attorney, Matt McEvoy Approved by School Committee, May 30, 2018

## **Table of Contents**

Гable of Contents	2
Introduction Letter	6
Section 1: Statement of Non-Discrimination	7
Section 2: Core Values and Code of Conduct	<b></b> 7
Core Values	7
Mission Statement	<b></b> 7
Code of Conduct	<b></b> 7
Section 3: School Hours/Schedule	7
School Hours	7
Drop Off and Pick Up Procedures	8
Morning Drop - Off Procedure	8
Early Dismissal and Afternoon Pick-Up Procedure	9
School Closing Information	9
Section 4: Attendance	9
Student Absence Notification Program	9
Attendance Procedures	.10
Excused Absences	.10
Discretionary Absences	.10
Attendance Appeals	. 11
Section 5: Information and Communication	. 11
Home to School Communication	. 12
Student Information System	. 12
Student Records	. 12
Confidentiality of Student Record	. 13
Student Directory Information	. 14
Inspection of Student Record	. 14
Amendment of the Student Record	. 14
Transfer of Student Record	. 15
Access by Non-Custodial Parent to Student Records	. 15
Destruction of Records	. 15

	Complaints	15
	Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment Notice	16
Sec	ction 6: Academic Standards and Requirements	17
A	Academic Honesty	17
	Cheating and Plagiarism	17
	Homework expectations	18
	Grade reporting	18
	Marking System	18
	Class Rank	19
	Academic Progress Reports	19
	Incompletes	19
	Make-up Work	. 20
	Course Changes	. 20
	Withdrawing From a Course	21
	Honor Roll	21
	Dual Enrollment	. 22
	Academic Probation	. 22
	Social Probation	. 23
	Field Trips	. 23
Sec	tion 7: Extracurricular Activities	. 23
	Student Activities	. 23
	National Honor Society	. 23
	Extracurricular Activities	. 24
	Extracurricular Activity Eligibility	. 24
Ι	Dances/Concerts	25
Sec	rtion 8: Technology Policy	. 26
F	Empowered Digital Use	. 26
E	Electronic Devices / Cell Phones	. 26
Sec	rtion 9: School Lunch Program	27
	Free and Reduced Lunch	27
	Food Allergies	27

Meal Charge Policy2	7
Section 10: Student Support Services20	9
School Counseling Services	9
Health Services30	o
Health Records3	1
Emergency Information Cards3	1
Medication Policy3	1
State Mandated Health Screenings3	1
Physical Exams3	2
Parent Notification3	2
Services and Accommodations for Students with Disabilities 3	2
English Learners3	3
Homeless Students	3
Section 11: Safety and Security	4
Surveillance Cameras and Building Security	4
Buzzer System3	5
Visitor and Volunteer Policy3	5
Transportation Policy3	5
Student Conduct on Buses3	5
Drug Free School Community3	5
Lockdown and Fire drills30	6
Locker Policy3	6
Safe Operator Policy3	7
Student Parking3	7
Parking Registration and Times	8
Parking Passes3	8
Parking Violations30	9
Disciplinary actions and parking revocation	9
Seat Belt Use	9
Section 12: Bullying40	o
Reporting Bullying, Cyberbullying or Retaliation40	o

Responding to a Report of Bullying, Cyberbullying or Retaliation	41
Obligations to Notify Others	41
Investigation	42
Determinations	42
Responses to Bullying	42
Section 13: Harassment	44
Section 14: Student Conduct and Discipline	44
Student Discipline Guidelines	44
Disciplinary Due Process	44
Procedures	45
Principal's Hearings	47
Principal's Decision	47
Appeals	48
Academic Progress	48
Emergency Removal	48
Discipline and Students with Disabilities	49
Appeals	50
Searches of Students and Student Belongings	50
Searches of Student Lockers	51
Appendix A - Massachusetts Laws relative to Student Conduct and Be	havior52

## **Introduction Letter**

Dear Students and Parents,

Welcome to the Groton-Dunstable Regional High School. Our mission at GDRHS is to provide a safe environment for our students which fosters academic and personal excellence in cooperation with our community. Additionally we strive to engrain in our students our core values of balance, respect, integrity and perseverance.

This handbook will be a guide as you navigate your four years at Groton-Dunstable Regional High School. It articulates Groton-Dunstable Regional High School's core beliefs, policies, and procedures. It provides an introduction to the many resources available to you and to your rights and responsibilities as a GDRHS student or parent. Please familiarize yourself with the contents of the handbook and refer to it throughout the year.

We look forward to a wonderful school year.

Sincerely,

Michael Woodlock Principal

## **Section 1: Statement of Non-Discrimination**

It is the policy of the Groton-Dunstable Regional School District not to discriminate on the basis of race, color, sex, gender identity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, or homelessness in its educational programs, activities, or employment policies as required by Title IX of the 1972 Education Amendments, Titles VI and VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and M.G.L. c. 76, §5 . Also, students will not be excluded for reasons of marriage or pregnancy. Requests for information about these laws and/or grievance procedures should be directed to the Office of the Superintendent, Groton-Dunstable Regional School District, (978) 448-5505, ext. 200.

## Section 2: Core Values and Code of Conduct

#### **Core Values**

Balance, Integrity, Perseverance, Respect

#### **Mission Statement**

Groton-Dunstable Regional High School fosters academic and personal excellence in cooperation with the community. Through an evolving curriculum, we cultivate skills and attitudes that encourage students to develop a spirit of inquiry, the disposition to adapt to changing environments, and the intrinsic motivation to become responsible, contributing citizens.

#### **Code of Conduct**

Good behavior and classroom discipline are imperative if learning is to take place. The purpose of Groton Dunstable High School's Code of Condust is to ensure a safe and orderly environment for everyone. These rules are in effect for all GDRHS students, regardless of their age, while at school and at all school sponsored events.

Administrators will be the final arbitrator in all disciplinary actions. When more than one response is available, the school administrator will use the most appropriate choice according to the severity of the offense(s) and all other factors involved in the incident. All students will be provided with due process prior to the imposition of a disciplinary sanction that may result in the student's in-school suspension, out-of-school suspension or expulsion. See **Disciplinary Due Process** for more information.

## **Section 3: School Hours/Schedule**

#### **School Hours**

School is in session from 7:27 AM - 1:50 PM. Doors open for students at 7:00 AM. Once students have arrived to school, they are not allowed to leave school grounds unless they have permission by a school official.

#### Regular Day Schedule (1st Bell at 7:18am)

A	7:27	8:51
BREAK	8:51	9:00
В	9:04	10:28
С	10:32	12:22

	Lunch	Class Time	Minutes
First Lunch	10:28-10:52	10:56-12:22	86
Second Lunch	10:58-11:22	10:32-10:58	83
		11:25-12:22	
Third Lunch	11:28-11:52	10:32-11:28	83
		11:55-12:22	
Fourth Lunch	11:58-12:22	10:32-11:58	86

D	10.06	1.50
D	12.20	1.50

#### Half Day Schedule(1st Bell at 7:18am)

	, ,	
A	7:27	8:15
В	8:19	9:07
С	9:11	9:59
D	10:03	10:50

(Adjustments to the bell schedule will occur for special events and assemblies)

#### Drop Off and Pick Up Procedures

In order to create a safe environment for our students, parents who choose to drive their children to and from school are asked to adhere to the following protocols for morning and afternoon pick-up/drop off. Please plan the morning departure from home to arrive at GDRHS no earlier than 7:00 AM. Students will not be permitted to enter the building until 7:00 AM (except during inclement weather).

#### Morning Drop - Off Procedure

When picking up your child at the end of the school day, please park in circle drop off located near the tennis courts. For the safety of all of our students, parents are asked to park in the designated parking areas while waiting for their child(ren) to be dismissed. Areas such as fire lanes or unmarked parking areas are prohibited. Please be advised that under M.G.L. C.90 16 B and 540 CMR 27.00, it is against the law to leave your car idling on school grounds.

We thank you in advance for your cooperation and understanding. Your child's safety is our first priority.

#### Early Dismissal and Afternoon Pick-Up Procedure

If you wish to dismiss your child early from school, please send in a note identifying the date and time of the dismissal. Students should give this note to the office before 7:27am. When arriving to pick-up your child, please park in the main parking lot in a visitor space.

#### **School Closing Information**

It is the policy of the Groton-Dunstable Regional School District to keep school in session unless road conditions are too hazardous for buses to travel safely. The opening of school may be delayed only when it is felt road conditions will improve. When it is necessary to cancel or delay the opening of school, an automated message will be sent to all staff and parents. Announcements may also be heard on the following radio/TV stations: Boston WBZ Channel 4, Dial 1030, Boston WHDH Channel 7, Dial 680, Boston WCVB Channel 5, The Boston Channel.com

Parents and students are encouraged to listen for the announcements. Parents should also establish an emergency plan with their children, especially for early dismissals. Students should know where they should report to in the event there is an early dismissal and their parent is not home.

## **Section 4: Attendance**

#### **Student Absence Notification Program**

Parents are instructed to call 978-448-6362 (Dial 1 for the Attendance line) by 9:00am to notify the school that a student will be absent and the reason therefor. If a student is absent and the school is not contacted by the designated time, the school will call the phone number(s) furnished by the parents/guardians to inquire about the student's absence. If the school has not received notification of the reason for the student's absence from the parent/guardian within three (3) days of an absence, the school will notify the parents/guardians.

When a student has five (5) or more school days unexcused in a school year or has at least 5 days in which the student has missed 2 or more blocks in a school year due to tardiness or unexcused absences, the principal, or a designee, will notify the parents and will make a reasonable effort to meet with the parents to develop action steps to address the student's attendance. The action steps shall be developed jointly and agreed upon by the school principal, or a designee, the student and the student's parent(s) or guardian(s) and, where appropriate, with input from other relevant school personnel and officials from relevant public safety, health and human service, housing and nonprofit agencies.

In accordance with M.G.L. Ch. 76, § 2, if a child is absent for seven (7) days or fourteen (14) half days within any period of six months, the school is required to take appropriate action. This may include: a meeting with administration and in some cases filing a Child Requiring Assistance (CRA) petition or an application for a criminal complaint with the Juvenile Court or another court of competent jurisdiction.

#### Attendance Procedures

- No students will exceed seven (7) discretionary absences for any class during a single semester or four (4) for a quarter long class. When the number of absences approaches the limit a letter is sent to parents indicating this. At this this point, if circumstances such as illness or family hardships have contributed to the attendance concern, we invite parents to share relevant information so that administration can take everything into account prior to any decision being made or scheduling an attendance appeal.
- When students exceed the limit of absences, they will be asked to participate in an attendance appeal. At this time they can share their reasons for violating the policy with administrators and other staff relevant to the situation. Attendance appeals can have multiple outcomes. At the conclusion of an appeal students can be found...
  - Faultless due to unexpected circumstances beyond their control (ie. illness, family issues, death of a loved one, etc....).
  - o In violation of the policy and given a warning.
  - In violation of the policy and placed on a probation. Probationary expectations will be determined by administration and each case will be unique to the factors which caused the violation and student attendance history will be considered.
  - In violation of the policy after a warning and/or probation and without relevant extenuating circumstances.
- If students are found in violation of the policy after a warning and/or probation and without valid extenuating circumstances beyond their control, they will receive an "F" for the class(es) for that semester/quarter; the numeric equivalent being a 55. If a student's average for that term is below a 55 he/she will receive the average that he/she has earned for that semester.
- Seniors who exceed four discretionary absences during the fourth quarter will be considered in violation of the attendance policy and subject to the above procedures.
- The attendance record for each class is included on every report card and is
  accessible in SchoolBrains at all times. In addition, each time a student is absent
  from school, the parent/guardian will receive a phone call informing the family of
  the absence. Additionally, each time a tardy is issued it includes the number of
  absences and tardies that have accumulated.

#### Excused Absences

(Proper documentation may be required for all excused absences)

Doctor/dentist appointments or verified illness (notification from the medical office within 5 school days of the absence). Please note that a phone call to a doctor's office does not constitute an excused absence. A scheduled appointment will not suffice as documentation. A receipt/letter/note from the medical office is necessary for our records. We understand that not all absences due to illness require a visit to a physician. This is why discretionary absences are allowed. Should unusual, extended or

frequent illness occur that is out of the ordinary, please refer to the procedures above. Administrators will always take student attendance history into account before any steps would be taken to impose attendance driven consequences.

Examples of excused absences include but are not limited to the following...

- Court appearances
- DMV/Registry appointments (maximum of 2)
- Major religious holidays
- Illness/appointments documented by a medical professional
- Suspension
- Bereavement for family members or serious family illness
- College visits (juniors and seniors only). Excused college visits are limited to
  three per year. Students should clear these visits through their Guidance
  Counselor and must provide documentation of their visit. If travel is necessary,
  these days may be included as excused if they are approved by an administrator
  prior to the visit. Students are responsible for all make-up work if they choose to
  take part in a visit and teachers are under no obligation to provide classwork
  ahead of time.

#### Discretionary Absences

- Family Vacations: Family vacations and early departure for summer vacations, employment, camps, etc... will have an effect on a student's attendance. Families choosing to take students out of school for this reason may need to appear before the Attendance Appeal Committee.
- Employment
- Automobile/traffic issues
- Weather related circumstances
- Private school interviews
- Illness not requiring a doctor's attention
- Dismissal
- Tardiness
- Athletic events not affiliated with GDRHS
- Cutting class or abusing a corridor pass (missing 25 or more minutes from class without a valid reason)
- "Skip Days" GDRHS does not condone or approve and type of day in which students choose not to be in school.

#### Attendance Appeals

Students who are found to be in violation of the attendance policy may appeal to the Attendance Appeal Committee before the loss of credit for a class is administered. The Attendance Appeal Committee is made up of teachers, administrators and staff. The committee meets at least twice per year. Students who are requested to appear before the committee will receive notification outlining the process. Regardless of the committee's decision, the principal or his/her designee reserves the right to make the final decision on all appeals. Additionally, if the principal or his/her designee is aware

of extenuating circumstances prior to an appeal, they may determine that it is not necessary to go through this process.

## **Section 5: Information and Communication**

#### **Home to School Communication**

The GDRHS welcomes and encourages parent and community involvement in the education of our children. We also understand the importance of effective communication. To enable effective communication between home and school a protocol for communication has been established. Major issues should be put in writing to ensure a clear description of the matter.

Parents wishing to voice a question or concern should contact the employee closest to the question. For example:

- Questions regarding curriculum, student progress, homework, or concerns regarding classroom behavior should be directed to the classroom teacher. You may contact the teacher either by voicemail or email.
- Questions regarding scheduling, discipline, bus issues, or concerns that are unresolved after speaking to a classroom teacher, guidance counselor, or academic advisor, should be directed to one of the administrators.
- Questions regarding special education should be directed to the Special Education Team Chairperson.

If an issue is still not resolved after speaking/meeting with the building principal, an appointment should be made with the Superintendent.

When there is a concern about athletics, a conversation with the coach is the first step, the athletic director the second step, and, when necessary, the third step is to contact the Assistant Principal.

## **Student Information System**

The SchoolBrains Community Portal is integrated into the District's SchoolBrains student information system. SchoolBrains is specially designed to provide an additional means of communication and sharing of information between parents/guardians, teachers, students, and administrators.

SchoolBrains Community Portal enables parents/guardians to view their child's attendance, schedule, and report card grades. Biographical information, such as telephone numbers, email and mailing addresses can be viewed and updates can be submitted online for approval.

#### **Student Records**

The following is a summary of parent and student rights under Massachusetts state laws and regulations (603 CMR 23.00) pertaining to student records and the Family Educational Rights Privacy Act (FERPA).

**Student Record:** The student record consists of the transcript and the temporary record, including all information recording and computer tapes, microfilm, microfiche, or any other materials regardless of physical form or characteristics concerning a student that are maintained by the school district and are organized on the basis of the student's name or in a way that such student may be individually identified, and that is kept by the public schools of the Commonwealth as defined under state law.

**Parent:** A student's father or mother, or guardian, or person or agency legally authorized to act on behalf of the student in place of or in conjunction with the father, mother, or guardian. Any parent who by court order does not have physical custody of the student, is considered a non-custodial parent for purposes of M.G.L. c. 71, § 34H and 603 CMR 23.00. This includes parents who by court order do not reside with or supervise the student, even for short periods of time.

**Eligible Student**: A student who has reached fourteen (14) years of age or who has entered 9<sup>th</sup> grade. Upon reaching 18 years of age, the adult student may submit a written request to the principal or to the Superintendent of Schools to limit the rights of the parent(s) to request the amendment or release of the student record. Under Massachusetts law, however, a student cannot limit the right of the parent(s) to inspect the student record regardless of the Student's age. M.G.L. c. 71, § 34E.

#### **Authorized School Personnel:**

- (a) School administrators, teachers, counselors and other professionals who are employed by the school committee or who are providing services to the student under an agreement between the school committee and a service provider, and who are working directly with the student in an administrative, teaching counseling, and/or diagnostic capacity. Any such personnel who are not employed directly by the school committee shall have access only to the student record information that is required for them to perform their duties.
- (b) Administrative office staff and clerical personnel, including operators of data processing equipment or equipment that produces microfilm/microfiche, who are either employed by the school committee or are employed under a school committee service contract, and whose duties require them to have access to student records for purposes of processing information for the student record. Such personnel shall have access only to the student record information that is required for them to perform their duties.
- (c) The Evaluation Team which evaluates a student.

#### Confidentiality of Student Record

With few exceptions, no individuals or organizations other than the parent, eligible student, and school personnel working directly with the student may access information in the student record without the informed written consent of the parent or eligible student. For additional information regarding the release of student records to third parties, please see 603 CMR 23.07.

A Log of Access shall be included in the student record documenting the release of student records to individuals or entities other than authorized school personnel, the parent(s) and/or the eligible student.

#### **Student Directory Information**

GDRSD may release to third parties, without prior consent, a student's name, address, telephone number, date and place of birth, major fields of study, dates of attendance, weight and height of members of athletic teams, class participation in officially recognized activities and sports, degrees, honors and awards, and post high school plans. Parents and eligible students do, however, have the right to submit a written request that the student's directory information not be released without prior consent. Such written requests must be submitted to the Principal by October 1st.

#### Inspection of Student Record

Parents and/or eligible students have the right to inspect the student's permanent and temporary record. The record must be made available to the parent and/or eligible student within ten (10) calendar days of a request to access the student record, unless the parent and/or eligible student consents to an extension of this timeframe. If the parent and/or eligible student requests copies of the student records, the district may impose a charge for the actual reproduction cost of the records requested.

The Parents and/or eligible student have the right to meet with qualified school personnel and to have the contents of the student record interpreted. Parents and/or eligible students also have the right to have the student record inspected or interpreted by a third party of their choice at private expense.

#### Amendment of the Student Record

Parents and eligible students have the right to add relevant comments, information, or other written materials to the student record. If a parent or eligible student believe that adding information is not sufficient to explain, clarify or correct objectionable material in the student record, the parent and/or eligible student shall present the objection in writing and shall have the right to meet with the principal or a designee. Parents shall be notified of any request by an eligible student between 14 and 18 years of age to amend the student's student record.

Within one (1) school week of such a meeting or written request, the principal will issue a written decision on the request to amend the student record. Parents and eligible student shall have the right to appeal the principal's decision to the Superintend of Schools. Parents and eligible students shall have the right to request a hearing before the School Committee if they disagree with the Superintendent's decision on any such appeal.

#### Transfer of Student Record

GDRSD will forward the student record of any student who seeks or intends to transfer to another public school or school district, upon request of the receiving school/school district. The written consent of the parent(s) and/or eligible student shall not be required prior to releasing records to the receiving school/school district.

#### Access by Non-Custodial Parent to Student Records

Unless there is a court order to the contrary, a non-custodial parent (parent without physical custody of the student) has the right, subject to certain procedures, to access his/her child's student record. A non-custodial parent who wishes to access the student record must submit a written request annually to the school principal. Upon receipt of such a request, the principal shall send written notification to the custodial parent by certified and first-class mail that the records and information will be provided to the non-custodial parent in twenty-one (21) calendar days unless the custodial parent provides documentation of the non-custodial parent's ineligibility to access such information.

In all cases where school records are provided to a non-custodial parent, the electronic and postal address and other contact information for the custodial parent shall be removed from the records provided. Any such records provided to the non-custodial parent shall be marked to indicate that they may not be used to enroll the student in another school. Upon receipt of a court order that prohibits the distribution of information pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 34H, the school will notify the non-custodial parent that it shall cease to provide access to the student record to the non-custodial parent. M.G.L. c. 71, § 34H; 603 CMR 23.07.

#### **Destruction of Records**

While a student is enrolled in a school, the principal or a designee may periodically review and destroy misleading, outdated, or irrelevant information contained in the temporary record provide. The District shall also destroy all documents contained in the student's temporary record within seven (7) years of the student's graduation, transfer or withdrawal from the school district. Prior to the destruction of temporary records, the parents and eligible student shall be notified in writing and provided with an opportunity to obtain a copy of any records to be destroyed. A copy of such notice shall be placed in the temporary record.

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 87, the score of any group intelligence test administered to a student enrolled in a public school shall be removed from the record of said student at the end of the school year in which such test was so administered.

#### **Complaints**

A parent or eligible student has a right to file a complaint with the Family Policy Compliance Office, U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20202-5920, 800-872-5327; or with the Massachusetts Department

of Elementary and Secondary Education, 75 Pleasant Street, Malden, MA 02148, 781-338-3300.

#### Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment Notice

The Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA) affords parents certain rights regarding our conduct of surveys, collection and use of information for marketing purposes, and certain physical exams. These include the right to:

- A. Consent before students are required to submit to a survey that concerns one or more of the following protected areas ("protected information survey") if the survey is funded in whole or in part by a program of the U.S. Department of Education (DOE): political affiliations or beliefs of the student or student's parent; mental or psychological problems of the student or student's family; sex behavior or attitudes; illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning behavior; critical appraisals of others with whom respondents have close family relationships; legally recognized privileged relationships, such as with lawyers, doctors, or ministers; religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or parents; or income, other than as required by law to determine program eligibility.
- B. *Receive notice* and an opportunity to opt a student out of the following: any other protected information survey, regardless of funding; any non-emergency, invasive physical exam or screening required as a condition of attendance, administered by the school or its agent, and not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of a student, except for hearing, vision, or scoliosis screenings, or any physical exam or screening permitted or required under state law; and activities involving collection, disclosure, or use of personal information obtained from students for marketing or to sell or otherwise distribute the information to others.
- C. *Inspect*, upon request and before administration or use: protected information surveys of students; instruments used to collect personal information from students for any of the above marketing, sales, or other distribution purposes; and instructional material used as part of the educational curriculum. These rights transfer from the parents to a student who is 18 years old or an emancipated minor under state law.

The District will/has develop(ed) and adopt(ed) policies, in consultation with parents, regarding these rights, as well as arrangements to protect student privacy in the administration of protected information surveys and the collection, disclosure, or use of personal information for marketing, sales, or other distribution purposes. The District will directly notify parents of these policies at least annually at the start of each school year and after any substantive changes. The District will also directly notify, such as through U.S. Mail or email, parents of students who are scheduled to participate in the specific activities or surveys noted below and will provide an opportunity for the parent to opt his or her child out of participation of the specific activity or survey. The District will make this notification to parents at the beginning of the school year if the District

has identified the specific or approximate dates of the activities or surveys at that time. For surveys and activities scheduled after the school year starts, parents will be provided reasonable notification of the planned activities and surveys listed below and be provided an opportunity to opt their child out of such activities and surveys. Parents will also be provided an opportunity to review any pertinent surveys.

Specific activities and surveys covered under this requirement include: the collection, disclosure, or use of personal information for marketing, sales or other distribution; the administration of any protected information survey not funded in whole or in part by DOE; and any non-emergency, invasive physical examination or screening as described above. Parents who believe their rights have been violated may file a complaint with:

Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202-5901

## Section 6: Academic Standards and Requirements

## **Academic Honesty**

Academic Honesty is the performance of all academic work without cheating, lying, stealing, or receiving assistance from any other person or using any source of information not appropriately authorized or attributed.

#### Cheating and Plagiarism

Cheating and plagiarism are totally unacceptable behaviors. For a first offense, the parents and student may be required to meet with the Assistant Principal and the teacher to discuss the incident. The student will earn no credit for the assignment, will be required to serve 4 detention hours, and will be placed on social probation for a period of up to 2 weeks. A second offense will warrant a suspension. Teachers may create policies in their classrooms with additional consequences. These policies must be in writing and distributed to students.

Cheating includes, but is not limited to cheat sheets, attempting to secure answers on a test or quiz from another source other than direct personal knowledge, submitting another student's work/report/term paper as one's own, allowing one's work to be used by another student, and use of any portion of someone else's material or from an alternate source (which includes copying material from another student's computer data disk) without proper footnoting or credits.

Cheating includes, but is not limited to:

- Copying, or allowing another to copy, answers to a test, quiz, or examination
- Transmitting or receiving, during a test, information that is covered on that examination (either orally, in writing, by sign, electronic device, or otherwise)
- Giving or receiving answers to a test, quiz, or examination scheduled for a later time

• Unauthorized use of a calculator or other electronic device

Plagiarism is the use of someone else's ideas or words, even with a few changes, without giving proper credit to the creator. This includes ideas or words from any media source such as print, all electronic sources including, but not limited to, the internet, video, film, CD/DVD, or music. To plagiarize is to steal.

Plagiarism includes, but is not limited to:

- Directly quoting all or part of another person's written or spoken words without quotation marks
- Paraphrasing all or part of another person's written or spoken words without notes or documentation
- Presenting an idea, theory, or formula originated by someone else as original work of the person submitting that work
- Repeating information, such as statistics, which is not common knowledge and was originally compiled by another person
- Purchasing (or receiving in any other manner) a term paper, or other assignment that is the work of another person and submitting all or part of it as your own work.

#### Homework expectations

It is assumed that all homework assigned by the teacher will have educational value within the curriculum and that the goal of assigning 2.5 hours of homework per course per week. At the high school level, students are expected to manage their time to accommodate studying as well as long term and short-term assignments.

If homework exceeds maximum totals on a consistent basis, students should meet with their teacher during extra help hours to discuss. The recommendation also includes that no homework be assigned over vacation (i.e, Homework will be assigned a sufficient amount of time before vacation or due a sufficient amount of time after vacation to allow time for completion while school is in session.) Parents should ensure that students have a distraction free environment to complete their homework.

#### **Grade reporting**

In order to be successful, students must attend all classes and all assignments must be completed. At the end of each of the four terms, letter grades (A, B, C, D, F, and INC.) will be given.

#### **Marking System**

A+	97-100	C+	77-79	M	Medical Excuse
A	93-96	C	73-76	P	Pass
<b>A-</b>	90-92	C-	70-72	INC	Incomplete (Pass/Fail/Medical)
B+	87-89	D+	67-69	WP	Withdraw Pass
В	83-86	D	63-66	WF	Withdraw Fail
В-	80-82	D-	60-62	WM	Withdraw Medical
Failin	ıg, Below	60			

All students, grades 9-12, must take a minimum of 8 credits per year. Progress Reports, Report Cards, teacher communication, and SchoolBrains provide families with many opportunities to gauge a student's progress. Please contact teachers or the guidance counselors to discuss the academic progress of a student.

Students will not be allowed to take a failed course and the next subsequent course at the same time (i.e. English 9 and English 10). Only students who fail courses or have administrative approval are eligible to attend summer school. We strongly recommend that they do so. If that is the case, they must make arrangements with their counselor and the administration prior to registration for summer school. No credit will be given for summer school courses taken without prior approval of the administration.

Students who have developed an interest in an area of study beyond the classroom instruction may, with the administration's approval, develop an Independent Study Program. Please note that this must take place in addition to a normal course load and may not be used to make up a missing credit in a course. Independent Study request forms are located in the guidance department.

For specific graduation requirements, please refer to the Program of Studies.

#### Class Rank

Class rank will be based on the following weighted grading system. CP I + CP II = 0-100 Honors = 0-105 AP = 0-110

#### **Academic Progress Reports**

Academic Progress Reports will be available to all students usually at the end of the fourth week of the marking term. However, teachers may, at their discretion, issue warnings more frequently as they deem necessary.

#### **Incompletes**

Students who fail to complete all assigned work due to excused absence may be given an "Incomplete-Pass" (INC/pass), "Incomplete-Medical"(INC/MED) or "Incomplete-Failure" (INC/Fail) for a grade. Students who receive an "Incomplete –Failure" will be placed on Academic Probation until the work is completed and a passing grade is submitted.

The student must make up incomplete work during the first two weeks of the next term. Any incomplete work not made up during this two-week period, automatically becomes a failure and averaged into the reported grade. Teachers may, with the approval of the administration, make special extensions of these limits and continue the incomplete until such time as the work is made up.

#### Make-up Work

If a student misses a class or an entire school day for any excused or unexcused absence or as the result of suspension, they are allowed to make up any work assigned during the absence. All class work and assignments that are incomplete must be made-up within one (1) day of returning to school. If the absence exceeds one (1) day, the number of school days missed, indicates the number of school days a student has to make up missed assignments. *For example*, if a student misses three (3) school days, the student will have three days to make up the missed assignments. The only exception will be in extreme cases of prolonged absence. In this case, the teacher will determine the number of days allotted for making up missed assignments.

Schoolwork assigned prior to the absence must be turned in upon the student's return to receive full credit. A day's absence does not excuse a student from a previously scheduled assessment.

When a student is absent from school for any reason they are strongly encouraged to contact individual teachers regarding assignments. The student, not the teacher, is responsible for making sure that the student makes up all work missed including tests and quizzes. All tests and quizzes must be made-up after school. These arrangements must be made with the teacher.

A grade recorded as incomplete at the end of the term due to missed assignments will become a failing grade if the matter is not reconciled within two (2) weeks after the quarter ends.

#### **Course Changes**

If a student wishes to change course levels during a semester the following guidelines will apply:

If a course level change is deemed appropriate within the first 10 class days and with approval from parents, counselors, teachers and administrators, the student may transfer without penalty. All assessments from the original class will be voided and the student will start with no grade in the new course. Students may be asked to complete work missed in the first two weeks of class.

If a course level change is deemed appropriate after 10 class days and before progress reports and with approval from parents, counselors, administration and teachers, the student may change levels. In this situation, all grades from the previous course will follow the student and the grades will be averaged at a ratio consistent with the percentage of time spent in each course.

If a course level change is deemed appropriate following progress reports and with approval from parents, counselors, administration and teachers, a W will appear on transcript with the students' grade at the time of withdrawl or a grade of 50, whichever is higher. This withdrawal grade will be included in the calculation of cumulative averages. If a student transfers from an honors course to a CP level course and if the

student has reached the midpoint in the semester, an additional 1.25 percentage points will be added to the quarter grade to account for the additional credit provided for an honors course. No grades will transfer to the new course.

Course level changes after the first ten classes will only be considered in cases if it is agreed upon that the student has provided a genuine effort, completed all work and sought extra help when available. No course level changes will be granted for reasons including but not exclusive to disliking a course, selecting or deselecting a teacher, underestimating expectations or wanting to be in another class for any personal reasons. Exceptions to these standards will be granted only by administrators if they deem that extenuating circumstances and the students best interest supercede these parameters.

Students and parents must also be aware that even if a schedule change is deemed appropriate and desired, scheduling logistics may prohibit changes. Once the school year has begun, scheduling conflicts, class enrollments and many other factors may make schedule changes unavailable. We cannot stress enough the importance of carefully considering teacher recommendations and engaging in conversations involving parents, students and guidance counselors prior to filling out a schedule.

#### Withdrawing From a Course

All courses that are dropped prior to the end of the Add/Drop period will not be represented on a final transcript.

Courses that are dropped after Add/Drop and before progress reports will result in a W being represented on their transcript. No grades will be reflected in a student's cumulative average.

Courses dropped after progress reports will receive a WP (passing) or a WF (failing) depending on the course average at the time of withdrawal. A WP will carry a grade of 60, which will be factored into their cumulative average. A WF will carry a grade of 50, which will be factored into their cumulative average. No credit will be earned for a course receiving a W, WP or WF.

Administration reserves the right to alter conditions of this policy due to extenuating circumstances.

#### Honor Roll

Report cards are issued four times a year, in November, February, April, and June. All courses receive a letter grade. The Honor Roll program exists to recognize academic achievement. All courses count toward the Honor Roll. Honor Roll eligibility is as follows:

• High Honors: All A's

Honors: All A's and B's

#### **Dual Enrollment**

Dual enrollment allows students to take college level courses while enrolled as a junior or senior in high school. Students may elect to take courses at community colleges or four year institutions at their own expense.

Dual enrollment is an option open to all GDRHS students in grade 12. Students may apply for dual enrollment if they have an overall average of 85% and have met all GDRHS graduation requirements or at the discretion of the administration. All courses required for graduation must be taken at GDRHS, however, students are encouraged to take academic and enrichment courses not offered in the district. Students interested in applying for Dual Enrollment should see their guidance counselor.

#### **Academic Probation**

Upon issue of a Report Card, a student failing one (1) or more subjects will be placed on Academic Probation (i.e., ineligible to participate in ALL school sponsored activities). For Semester courses, the Term Grade in each subject determines Academic Probation, not the Final grade. For Term courses, the Final Grade will determine Academic Probation. Academic Probation will extend until the next Report Card or Progress Report is issued. A Student must be passing all subjects to come off of Academic Probation (based on Term Grade in each subject, *not* Final Grade). Violation of Academic Probation will result in a one (1) day suspension.

Academic probation prohibits student participation or attendance in any school function or co-curricular activity (games, performances, contests, dances, awards banquet, etc.). Students on academic probation must leave school grounds at the end of the regular school day unless he or she is receiving tutorial assistance or serving a detention. Students may be granted permission to attend practices, rehearsals, or meetings with prior approval of the administration but will not be allowed to *attend* games, performances, contests, dances, awards banquet, etc. However, they will be able to attend Prom with approval by the administration approval.

Students will retain parking privileges unless the student is on Academic Probation for two consecutive marking periods/progress reports. Term 4 failures will result in Academic Probation through Progress reports of Term 1 of the following school year unless summer school is completed with passing grades.

Seniors on Academic Probation will be able to walk at graduation and attend Class Awards ceremony provided all requirements are met and is granted approval by the administration.

If a student is on academic probation, that student is not eligible to attend any field trips. An appeal to the administration may be made by the teacher organizing the field trip.

#### Social Probation

A student, whose behavior does not meet the expectations established by the Groton-Dunstable Regional High School community, will be placed on social probation.

Students on Social Probation have the same restrictions as those on Academic Probations with the exception of the following:

- Parking privileges will be revoked for non-school choice students
- Social Probation will be suspended during extended school vacations. It will resume on the next regularly scheduled school day.
- Seniors on Social Probation will not be allowed to participate in any "Senior Week" activities.

Social probation is automatic with a suspension offense. At the discretion of the Administration, social probation may begin on the first day of the suspension or when the student returns to school. For suspensions of 1 to 3 days a student will be on probation for one week, and for 4- 6 days, two weeks. A suspension of greater than 10 days may result in a social probation of up to one marking period (nine weeks). Violation of social probation may result in a one (1) day suspension.

#### Field Trips

If a student has excessive unexcused absences or tardies, that student may not be eligible to attend any field trips. An appeal to the administration may be made by the teacher organizing the field trip.

## **Section 7: Extracurricular Activities**

#### Student Activities

The purpose of the educational program at GDRHS is to provide each student with the opportunity to develop to the full extent of his or her capabilities. All students are encouraged to take advantage of these opportunities to develop academic, athletic and social skills to complement those learned in the classroom. GDRHS provides nonacademic and extracurricular services and activities in such a manner as is necessary to afford students with disabilities an equal opportunity for participation.

The student activities program is designed to provide social skills and leadership development for students. Though they provide many learning experiences to the student, outside activities are still only supplemental to a student's education. A student's classes are his or her first concern and students will not be allowed to leave or miss class for outside activities without permission of their teacher.

#### National Honor Society

The National Association of Secondary School Principals sponsors the National Honor Society. Its purpose is fourfold: to create an enthusiasm for scholarship, to stimulate a

desire to render service, to promote leadership, and to develop character. Membership in the National Honor Society is both an honor and a privilege that carries responsibility.

Students are selected on the four criteria of: Scholarship, Leadership, Character, & Service

Eligibility to apply for NHS is open to students in the eleventh and twelfth grades. Students must have a cumulative GPA of ninety (90) to be considered for membership. The NHS Faculty Council (NHSFC) elects new members based on the four criteria.

Students may be placed on probation or dismissed according to the guidelines as stated in the Code of Ethics. The NHSFC will meet to discuss and take action on individual cases. Copies of the student eligibility packet, guidelines for selection, the Code of Ethics and the Chapter's Constitution are available for viewing in the school library. Please note: Eligibility requirements and all documents are available in the library upon request or from the NHS advisor.

#### Extracurricular Activities

We encourage student involvement in school organizations and clubs. Students wishing to start a new club need to secure a faculty advisor and obtain a charter from an administrator.

The Activities Fair held in the fall gives students time to ask questions and an opportunity to sign-up for our clubs. More information may be found on the HS website. There may be a fee to participate in any activity.

1:50-2:30 is reserved for club/advisor meetings. Because so many of our students participate in clubs and athletics, the policy allows for them to engage in multiple co-curricular activities. Practices and rehearsals may not begin prior to 2:30. Student-Athletes, Performing arts students and any other activity that requires ongoing practices and commitments, will be given a reasonable amount of time by their coach, director, or conductor, to get ready for practice beyond 2:30.

However, if a meeting extends beyond 2:30, it is incumbent upon the advisor to release students at 2:30 or, work with the coaches, directors, conductors and students to see if a compromise can be reached.

#### Extracurricular Activity Eligibility

Students must report to school no later than 8:30 AM and remain in school until 1:50 PM to be eligible to participate or practice on the day of an event. An absence on a Friday or a tardy after 8:30 AM on Friday will exclude the student from any weekend activities. An administrator will review extraordinary circumstances such as medical appointments (a note from the doctor will be required) and family emergencies. Students who have been suspended for infractions including, but not limited to, violations of the drug and alcohol policy, harassment policy, bullying policy, or who

commit a violent offense may be excluded from any school sponsored extracurricular activity including dances, trips, athletic competitions, etc. Student's may, at the discretion of the principal, also be excluded from extracurricular activities and school sponsored events for offenses not resulting in suspension.

#### **Dances/Concerts**

Dances are for Groton-Dunstable students; therefore they are not open to the general public. However, students from other schools may attend if they have made prior arrangements with the administration. Students wishing to bring a guest to a school-sponsored dance should pick up a guest form in the main office and submit to an administrator no less than 1 school day prior to the function.

Dances are school-sponsored activities and all school rules will be in effect. No smoking will be allowed. Students who arrive at the dance under the influence or who may be imbibing on the premises be will be subject to all penalties under the school Alcohol/Drug Abuse Policy. Students who abuse the policy, will have their parent/guardian notified and be asked to leave the dance.

Students who are disorderly must leave the dance without a refund and may be denied the privilege of attending future dances. Parents will be contacted. Suspended students and those on either Social or Academic Probation will not be allowed to attend dances held during their probation or suspension. Students who arrive after 8:30AM or are absent on the day of the dance are also not allowed to attend dances.

- Students will not be allowed entrance to the dance 30 min after the dance has begun (except with prior permission from the administration).
- Students must remain at school dances until 30 min before its conclusion (unless prior approval is given from the administration).
- Students who have left the dance may not return, as there is no re-admittance. Students leaving the building without permission may be suspended.

#### To sign-up guests:

- The GD student must register guests no later than the day before the dance.
- Approval of guests is the sole prerogative of the administration.
- Administration reserves the right to meet the guest, prior to the dance/event.
- Students may invite one (1) guest, at the appropriate grade level, to the dance.
- Guests must be in at least 9th grade and 19 years of age or younger, unless prior approval has been received by the Principal.
- The student is responsible for his/her guest's conduct.

Behavior at any school function must be consistent with the standards of decency, maturity, and respect that we expect from all members of our school community. Attendance at a Groton-Dunstable dance or activity is a privilege, not a right. All bags and jackets brought into a dance are subject to being searched

The sponsoring organization of a dance/concert must receive approval from the administration; complete a building facility use form, confirm chaperones and arrange for police coverage for the event.

## **Section 8: Technology Policy**

#### **Empowered Digital Use**

All students and faculty must agree to and sign our Empowered Digital Use from prior to the student or staff member being granted independent access to digital resources and district networks. The required form, which specifies guidelines for using digital resources and district networks, must be signed by the parent or legal guardian of minor students (those under 18 years of age) and also by the student. This document shall be kept on file as a legal, binding document. In order to modify or rescind the agreement, the student's parent/guardian (or the student who is at least 18 years old) must provide the Director of Technology with a written request.

Individuals who refuse to sign required Empowered Digital Use documents or who violate District rules governing the use of District technology or networks shall be subject to loss or restriction of the privilege of using equipment, software, information access systems, and network. Individuals shall reimburse the district for repair or replacement of District property lost, stolen, damaged, or vandalized while under their care. (School Committee Policy: IJND - ACCESS TO DIGITAL RESOURCES)

The school has taken measures to prevent access to inappropriate information. However, the school cannot control all the information available on the Internet. The district is not responsible for other people's actions or the quality or the content of information available through this service. The students know what is appropriate and inappropriate based on stated school guidelines.

The use of building and district information systems is a privilege, not a right, and inappropriate use of electronic information resources is a violation of school rules and may also violate, local, state, and federal laws for which students may be prosecuted.

Employees, visitors, students and parents must sign an acceptable use policy statement before using the district's equipment and networks. If anyone does not honor the policy, his/her privileges will be revoked and further disciplinary action may follow depending on the nature of the infraction.

## **Electronic Devices / Cell Phones**

- All personal electronic devices (PED), including but not limited to cell phones, tablets/ipads, digital recorders, calculators, digital cameras/video cameras or laptops, are not to be used during class unless the teacher specifically authorizes their usage for a class-related purpose.
- In particular, phones are to be turned off and are not to be used during a class unless the teacher specifically grants permission.

- Students should use headphones for any PED in which sound is necessary.
- Students are reminded that the surreptitious audio recording of any individual is a violation of Massachusetts law which may result in criminal prosecution.

PEDs may be used during break and lunch and before 7:27am and after 1:50pm in the common areas unless explicit authorization is given by the teacher to use them in a classroom. Students are reminded that connecting any of these devices outside of the public network is a direct violation of the Acceptable Use Policy. Students must exercise respect for their teachers and peers by not taking out their cell phone during class and causing a disruption to the learning environment. Students who violate this policy will be referred to the office.

- First offense: The PED will be confiscated by the teacher and the student may pick it up at the end of the day.
- Subsequent offenses: will be referred to the office for disciplinary action and a parent must pick up the device.

## **Section 9: School Lunch Program**

#### Free and Reduced Lunch

Please complete the Free & Reduced School Meals Application before the first day of school. We need a new application to be filled out every school year. If your household has qualified in the past or you think you may qualify this school year, please send completed applications to Shannon Bergeron, Food Service Director, 346 Main St. P.O. Box 727, Groton, MA 01450 or you can drop it off to her office at Middle School South's main office.

#### Food Allergies

The Groton- Dunstable Food Service Department encourages open communication with parents and students regarding school nutrition. Families are invited to call the food service director or kitchen manager with any questions or concerns. We encourage parents and students with any food allergies or food-related medical concerns to schedule a time with our kitchen managers to read current food labels and recipes. Cafeteria services are available to all students.

#### **Meal Charge Policy**

The purpose of this policy is to establish consistent meal procedures throughout the district. The Groton-Dunstable Regional School District ("GDRSD") recognizes that healthy, nutritious meals are an important component to student readiness and ability to learn.

In addition, 7 C.F.R. §210.10(a)(1) states "Schools must provide nutritious and well-balanced meals to all the children they serve." In accordance with this regulation, the GDRSD will not deny any student access to school lunch. However, 2 C.F.R. §300.10 2011, requires this to be written off as bad debt by statute, the district's Food Service

department is a self-supporting fund that shall not have a negative balance at the close of a fiscal year. Unpaid charges place a financial strain on the Food Service department and on the district's operating budget.

The goals of this policy are:

- To establish a consistent district policy regarding charges and collection of charges.
- To encourage parent/guardian to assume the responsibility of meal payments and to promote self-responsibility of the student.

On a weekly basis, the Food Service Director will generate a charge balance report from the POS system. The Director will send an email to all parents/guardians requesting immediate payment.

#### Free and Reduced Lunch Students

Free Lunch Status Students will not be allowed to have a negative account balance. Free lunch status allows a child to receive a free meal every day. A la carte items are not part of the USDA program.

Reduced Lunch Status Students will be allowed to have a negative account balance up to a maximum dollar equivalent of three (3) full priced meals. Reduced lunch status allows a child to receive reduced priced meals at a reduced amount determined by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, Nutrition, Health & Safety Programs.

#### All Other Students

All other students will be allowed to charge up to a maximum dollar equivalent of three (3) full priced meals. When the child reaches the maximum amount they will only be offered a designated menu alternate. Sample: Cheese sandwich + veggie sticks + fruit + milk. This designated menu alternate will be charged to the child's lunch account at the standard lunch rate. It will be reported as a meal to the state and federal school lunch authorities and thus will be eligible for reimbursement. Parents/Guardians are responsible for payment of these meals to the food service program. Once the child reaches the maximum meal charge, no a la carte items will be sold to the child and all transactions may become a cash basis transaction.

#### Methods of Payment

GDRSD can accept payment for meals upon purchase in the form of cash or check at the register, or via the school meal on-line payment system. Meals may be prepaid using any of these methods. Parents/Guardians are strongly encouraged to make payments online and to register for low balance alerts.

Any student whose account has a zero balance will be allowed to charge a reimbursable meal. This will result in a negative balance on the account until the balance is resolved. In no event will students at any grade level whose account is delinquent be allowed to charge a la carte items or second meal until the account is in good standing. "Good

standing" for the purchase of a la carte items is defined as an account with a positive balance.

#### **Collection Process**

#### **Checks Returned for Non-Sufficient Funds (NSF)**

When a check is returned to the Treasurer's Office for "NSF", a letter will be sent to inform the parent(s) from the Food Service Director. Payment for the NSF check must be in the form of cash, cashier's check, or money order. Payment must be received within ten (10) days of the date of the letter. Any penalty fee will be made payable to the GDRSD and sent to the Business Office. The penalty fee and the amount of the check will be deducted from the child/children's lunch account immediately upon notice from the bank and the above-mentioned rules will take effect. Second requests will follow M.G.L. Chapter 93 Section 40A.

#### Balances Owed with No Response by Parent/Guardian

If a student's account is not in good standing at the end of the school year, the administration may take one or more of the following actions, unless or until the deficit balance is paid in full:

- Prohibit participation of the student in the program.
- Prohibit participation of student or students in the student's household from participating in any future fee-based program, extra-curricular activity, or noncurricular school activity; or until or unless outstanding balances are resolved.
- Seniors must pay all charges before receiving their cap and gown.
- Prohibit student in senior activities or graduation exercises.
- Referral to small claims court and/or District Attorney's Office.

A parent may call the Food Service Director to place a block on their child's account to prohibit the purchase of a la carte items. The Director of Business & Finance may instruct the Food Service Director to place a block on a student's account due to non-payment of district fees or other collection issues.

LEGAL REF: M.G.L. 44: 53E 1/2

CROSS REF: EFC, JQ

## **Section 10: Student Support Services**

## **School Counseling Services**

Guidance services are an integral part of the educational program at Groton-Dunstable Regional High School. Guidance counselors' assist each student with their personal, social, emotional and academic needs so that they may benefit fully from their high school experience.

The guidance department identifies a student's needs and helps him/her meet these needs in the educational, vocational and personal social domains. The overall purpose of Guidance is to encourage each student to participate in his/her own development toward becoming a self-directed person in a changing society, having full respect for the work and dignity of self and others and becoming the person he/she desires to become.

The Guidance services provide three basic functions: counseling, guidance, and consulting. Full guidance and counseling services are provided for all students.

Groton-Dunstable Regional School District provides counseling and guidance services in a nondiscriminatory manner.

To ensure that counseling and counseling materials are free from bias and stereotypes on the basis of race, color, sex, gender identity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, disability and homelessness, all counselors:

- Encourage students to consider programs of study, courses, extracurricular activities, and occupational opportunities on the basis of individual interests, abilities and skills;
- Examine testing materials for bias and counteract any found bias when administering tests and interpreting these results;
- Communicate effectively with limited-English-proficient and disabled students and facilitate their access to all programs and services offered by the District;
- Provide limited-English-proficient students with the opportunity to receive guidance and counseling in a language they understand;
- Support student in educational and occupational pursuits that are nontraditional for their gender;
- Analyze course enrollment data to identify disproportionate enrollment of minority, women, and students with disabilities.

If bias or stereotypes are identified in counseling materials, the district will take corrective action by modifying the material, discarding the material or returning the material to the publisher.

#### **Health Services**

The High School has a full time registered nurse available for consulting, assessing ill and injured students, administering medicines or treatment, and providing screenings. Health care plans will be written for those students requiring special care.

Students who are ill or injured should be seen by the nurse to determine if treatment and/or dismissal are necessary. Communicable diseases are treated using the guidelines from the Mass. Department of Public Health Protocols. All students must have an emergency card on file in the nurse's office. A parent, or their designee, will be notified if the student needs dismissal due to illness/injury.

If out of school, because of an illness or injury, for more than three (3) consecutive days, the parent or guardian of the absent student should call the nurse. At that time special arrangements can be made for care if needed.

Requi	red immunizations for entry into high school:
	4 DPT or Dtap
	3 Polio
	2 MMR

зНер В
2 Varicella [chicken pox] or history of disease
Td booster within 10 years] or Tdap

#### **Health Records**

The nurse maintains a health record for every student. Under Massachusetts regulations, such health records are part of the student's temporary student record and will not be released to persons other than the school nurse or authorized school personnel without the written consent of the student's parent(s) or an eligible student except when required under applicable regulations.

A copy of the student's immunizations and/or their physical exam can be obtained from the nurse with a 24-hour notice. If needed for summer camp, request for the copies must be made no later than the last week of school. You will not be able to get a copy during vacations. Transferring students will receive a copy of their immunizations if requested. The nurse or her designee will forward the health record to the new school.

#### **Emergency Information Cards**

To ensure up-to-date and accurate information, it is imperative for parents to complete a new emergency information card annually. Students failing to submit updated information by the end of the first week of school may be placed on social probation. Emergency information cards should be returned to the school nurse.

#### **Medication Policy**

Students are not allowed to carry any medication, whether prescription or over-the counter. If medication is required during the school day, the following needs to happen:

- A form from the nurse must be completed and signed by the parent and the prescribing physician.
- The parent needs to deliver the medication (in its properly labeled original container) and completed form to the nurse.
- Medicine cannot be transported on the bus or be in possession of the student.

The only exception to this policy is an inhaler or epi-pen, but prior arrangements, including appropriate paperwork, need to be made with the nurse. Students with a life-threatening allergy will have an emergency care plan written and implemented by the nurse. Students who carry epi-pens must carry them for all field trips or after school activities. Failure to have the epi-pen will result in the student being excluded from that activity.

Students found in possession of medications in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary sanctions in accordance with the Drug and Alcohol Policy.

#### State Mandated Health Screenings

Scoliosis screening is done for all ninth graders. The physical education teacher performs the initial screening. Referrals are made to the nurse and if warranted, to a

physician. A letter will be mailed home if the student needs to see a physician. Hearing and vision screening is done for all tenth graders. A letter will be sent home if further medical attention is recommended. All tenth graders will have their height and weight recorded in their health record. A BMI [body mass index] will be done and a referral letter will be sent home.

#### Physical Exams

All students must have a physical exam on file with the nurse. The physical is valid for one year after the date taken. To participate in any sports program with school association, the athlete must pass a physical exam.

#### Parent Notification

According to the M.G.L. Ch. 71, §32A, the Commissioner of Education has sent notification to all school districts that they must notify all parents/guardians about any curriculum that primarily involves human sexuality issues and permit parents to exempt their children from any portion of that curriculum without penalty. Parents of Groton-Dunstable students will receive such notification prior to the teaching of topics on human sexuality,

#### Services and Accommodations for Students with Disabilities

Some students with disabilities require specialized instruction and/or supportive services to enable the student to make effective progress in school. These services can include, but are not limited to, speech therapy, physical therapy, occupational therapy, specialized instruction, or placement in special classroom. Parents or teachers may refer students they are concerned about to the Pupil Services Office. Within five (5) school days of such a referral, a consent form authorizing an evaluation of the student's eligibility for special education services will be forwarded to the parent(s). Upon receipt of a parent's consent or the consent of a student who has reached eighteen (18) years of age, an evaluation will be conducted and a Team meeting will be held to determine if the student is eligible for special education services pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act and/or M.G.L. c. 71B. If the student is found eligible for special education services, the Team will develop an Individualized Education Program (IEP) identifying the services determined necessary by the Team to provide the student with a free appropriate public education.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 ("Section 504") is a federal law designed to protect the rights of individuals with disabilities in programs and activities that receive federal financial assistance from the U.S. Department of Education. Section 504 provides: "No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance."

A student with a mental or physical impairment that substantially limits a major life activity may, following an evaluation, be determined to be eligible for services or

accommodations necessary to enable the student to benefit from school programming and instruction to the same extent as non-disabled students. Any such services will be documented in a Section 504 Accommodation Plan that is developed through the Section 504 Team process. To obtain additional information regarding Section 504 or to request an evaluation of a student's eligibility for Section 504 services or accommodations, please contact the principal or the Director of Pupil Services

Individuals who have complaints regarding the district's compliance with Section 504 may a file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education's, Office for Civil Rights, 5 Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02118. For complaints or concerns related to the identification, evaluation, and placement of students with disabilities, parents or guardians may file a Request for Hearing with the Massachusetts Bureau of Special Education Appeals at One Congress Street, 11th Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02114 or may access the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education's Problem Resolution System, 75 Pleasant Street, Malden, MA 02148.

#### **English Learners**

The District complies with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VI); the Equal Educational Opportunities Act (EEOA); the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA), as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA); M.G.L. c. 71A; and 603 CMR 14.00, which afford legal protections to English Learners (ELs) and the parents/guardians of EL students. The District's compliance activities include, but are not limited to: following appropriate procedures to identify students who may be English Learners (ELs) and Former English Learners (FELS); providing sufficient language and academic supports to enable ELs to become English proficient and meet academic standards in a timely manner; addressing any language barriers that would prevent ELs from meaningful participation in their education; and ensuring meaningful communication with Limited English Proficient parents/guardians. For additional information, please contact the Office of the Assistant Superintendent of Schools.

#### **Homeless Students**

The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act requires that schools immediately enroll homeless students in school, even if they do not have the documents usually required for enrollment, such as school records, medical records or proof of residency, as long as the student has been properly immunized. Information on lead screenings as well as immunization records may be transferred over the phone. Parents or Guardians intending to register students who are homeless should be aware of the following:

- 1. Homeless students have a right to either remain in their school of origin or to attend school where they are temporarily residing.
- 2. Children who move from a homeless situation into a permanent residence during the course of a school year have the right to stay in the school they were attending while they were temporarily homeless. If the child or youth continues his or her education in the school of origin but begins living in an area served by another school district, the school district of origin and the school district in which the homeless child or youth is living must agree upon a method to apportion the

- responsibility and costs for providing the child or youth with transportation to and from the school of origin. If the school districts cannot agree upon a method, the responsibility and costs for transportation are to be shared equally.
- 3. Students who chose to enroll in school where they are temporarily residing must be enrolled immediately, even if they do not bring the records usually required for enrollment with them. If a homeless student arrives without records, the school district's designated Homeless Education Liaison will assist the family and contact the previously attended school system to obtain the required records.
- 4. A child who is homeless and attending any school served by the local educational agency is eligible for Title I services and the Free and Reduced Lunch Program.

The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act defines "homeless children and youths" as individuals who lack a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence. The term includes—

- Children and youths who are:
  - sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship, or a similar reason (sometimes referred to as "doubled-up");
  - living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, or camping grounds due to lack of alternative adequate accommodations;
  - living in emergency or transitional shelters; or
  - abandoned in hospitals;
- Children and youths who have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not designed for, or ordinarily used as, a regular sleeping accommodation for human beings;
- Children and youths who are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard housing, bus or train stations, or similar settings; and
- Migratory children who qualify as homeless because they are living in circumstances described above.

Additional information is available at: http://www.doe.mass.edu/mv/

The Homeless Liaison for the Groton Dunstable Regional School District is The Director of Pupil Personnel Services.

## **Section 11: Safety and Security**

## **Surveillance Cameras and Building Security**

The school committee has approved the use of video cameras at the high school to support security initiatives and ensure the safety of all students, staff and the community. Non-audio recording security cameras are located in public areas such as hallways, stairwells, parking lots, front offices where employees and parents come and go, gymnasiums, front and back commons, and other appropriate locations. Video cameras are not in areas where there is a "reasonable expectation of privacy," such as bathrooms, gym locker/changing areas and private offices/classrooms. Signs informing students, staff and the public of the surveillance system are displayed in several prominent locations.

#### **Buzzer System**

After the start of school, all doors to Groton-Dunstable Regional High School are locked. All students, parents, teachers and visitors must be buzzed into the building through the front doors. In case of fire or other emergency, all building doors can be opened from the inside.

#### Visitor and Volunteer Policy

All visitors, including parents, must report to and register in the Main Office. All visitors will receive a visitor's badge prior to going elsewhere in the building.

Students who wish to bring visitors to school must adhere to the following guidelines:

- 1. Pick up a visitor form in the guidance department.
- 2. Complete the form.
- 3. Clearly state the reason(s) for having a guest.
- 4. Submit to an administrator for approval at least one day prior to visitation date.
- 5. Visitor requests may be denied for students wishing to bring a guest to school for non-academic reasons.

## **Transportation Policy**

#### Student Conduct on Buses

The Groton-Dunstable Regional School Committee and its staff share with students and parents the responsibility for student safety during transportation to and from school. The authority for enforcing School Committee requirements of student conduct on buses will rest with the Principal. To ensure the safety of all students who ride in buses, it may occasionally be necessary to revoke the privilege of transportation from a student who abuses this privilege. Parents of children whose behavior and misconduct on school buses endangers the health, safety, and welfare of other riders will be notified that their children face the loss of transportation privileges in accordance with the Code of Conduct approved by the School Committee (from SC Policy: EEAEC (also JICC) - STUDENT CONDUCT ON SCHOOL BUSES).

All school rules shall be in effect on school buses and at school bus stops. Students will be subject to disciplinary sanctions for violations of school rules on school buses and at school bus stops in addition to the loss of transportation privileges.

## **Drug Free School Community**

#### **Tobacco**

Students are not allowed to smoke/vape on school grounds at any time. The Massachusetts Clean Indoor Air Law effective April 13, 1988, "prohibits smoking in public and private schools". Smoking/vaping or the use of smokeless tobacco is not allowed in any part of this building, grounds, or school buses including before school, during school, or after school. Any person smoking or in possession of cigarettes, vaporizers, lighters, or rolling papers, including use of any form of smokeless tobacco or

E cigarettes, nicotine gum or vapor, regardless of the level of nicotine in the building, anywhere on school grounds, or at any school related activity will serve six (6) hours of detention. The second offense may result in a two day out of school suspension and eight hours of detention. Upon a third offense student may be referred to the Superintendent of Schools and be subject to a short-term out-of-school suspensiuon and up to 12 hours of detention.

For the purpose of this regulation, the act of smoking includes, but is not limited to, holding a lighted or unlighted cigarette/vape in one's hand or mouth, serving as a "lookout" and/or being in the close proximity of any student violating the above regulation. All will result in the suspension outlined above.

No cigarettes/vaporizers or lighters are allowed on school grounds. If brought on school grounds they will be confiscated and returned to a parent or guardian upon request. Violation of chemical health policies by athletes will result in penalties as mandated by the MIAA and coaches of their respective teams.

Both the school district and Groton-Dunstable Regional High School have a responsibility to protect the individual rights of each student as well as the rights of all students. Both responsibilities imply protection against influences detrimental to health and safety.

#### Drugs

Drugs including, but not limited to over the counter medication, prescription drugs (other than prescription drugs registered with and in the possession of the nurse), illegal drugs, controlled substances as defined under M.G.L. c. 94C, , THC, and/or alcohol have no place in our school. The use of drugs and alcohol is not only illegal, even for students over eighteen, but also incompatible with the sense of community and decision-making skills we want students to attain.

NOTE: Student athletes are subject to all MIAA regulations. Violations of the MIAA drug and alcohol policy impact player eligibility regardless of whether the offense took place in school or in the community. The school administration reserves the right to remove a student from any team in response to a violation of the Groton Dunstable Regional School District's drug and alcohol policies.

#### Lockdown and Fire drills

As part of the Groton-Dunstable Regional School District's efforts to maintain a safe school environment, lockdown drills and fire drills will be conducted periodically throughout the school year.

## **Locker Policy**

Lockers are the property of the school district and students do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of their lockers. Authorized school personnel may open student lockers for inspection. Students are reminded to keep lockers free of all food and drink products that may perish over an extended period of time. Students will

clean lockers at the end of each school year and at this time all locks should be removed for the summer. Students should not bring valuables or large sums of money to school. The school cannot be held responsible for materials missing from lockers. Students should keep locker combinations private and make sure that locks are properly secured. Report all thefts to the Main Office.

#### **Safe Operator Policy**

- Students are asked to remain safe and cautious drivers.
- Speed limit on school property is <u>20 miles per hour</u>.
- The exit from the student parking lot *is* school property.
- No student vehicles are allowed on the Emergency Access road.
- Students exiting the parking lot <u>are not allowed</u> to cut into the line in front of moving school buses and drivers are not allowed to permit other cars to cut in line.
- Passing a school bus with its red lights flashing may result in the student receiving a fine of up to \$200.
- Once the buses begin to move toward the exit. All cars should remained stopped with the exception of those cars already in the exit lanes. No driver should allow another car to enter the exit line once the buses begin to move.
- Violation of the Safe Operation Policy may result in loss of parking privileges and/or fines.
- Rules of the road apply to the school parking lot.

#### Student Parking

Student parking is a privilege that is available only to seniors and juniors on a space limited basis. All spaces are numbered spaces and are available for the purchase price of \$100.00. All registered drivers will be required to park only in their assigned space with an assigned sticker/placard. School administration will periodically patrol the parking lot to ensure safety, proper use of facility and identify violations.

Automobiles are to be parked only in assigned spaces in the student parking areas. Students are not to park on grassy areas, in the roadway, in the teachers' parking area or any other non-designated student parking area. The upper parking lot by the athletic fields is reserved for students with parking stickers.

Once a vehicle has arrived on school property, it should be parked in its assigned space and students should immediately leave the parking area. Students should remember to lock their vehicle at all times. No student is to return to the parking area or enter an automobile without permission from the administration or until school has been dismissed for the day. If a student is in violation of this, he or she will receive a minimum of four hours of detention. Repeated offenses may result in suspension. The only two exceptions to this are seniors during their Senior Project block, students participating in dual enrollment, interns reporting to their supervisors or other approved program.

All students are reminded that Massachusetts law prohibits the idling of motor vehicles on school grounds.

#### **Information for Seniors**

Seniors are guaranteed a parking space when they submit all criteria on or before the registration deadline. Seniors who have missed the deadline for parking registration are not guaranteed a parking space. Those missing the deadline will have their name added to a Wait List.

#### **Information for Juniors**

Junior parking spaces are on a first come first served basis. Juniors, who have missed the deadline for parking registration *or* parking was not available when they attempted to register their vehicle, will have their name added to a Wait List.

#### **Information for Sophomores**

Sophomores are only allowed to park during Term 4 if there are spaces available. Parking spaces are on a first come first served basis and sophomores still need to register and pay the regular \$50 half year price.

Note: After graduation, parking in the senior section is open to all students. They are free and unassigned for anyone who doesn't already have a spot.

#### **Parking Registration and Times**

#### **Registration Form**

All students must have their Auto Registration and License (Please register in the Main Office)

Open Registration begins during Break, the students' lunch time, and after school: 2:00PM in the Main Office

#### Parking Passes

Parking passes are issued during the year as individual student needs occur and based on availability.

If a student receives their driver's license after the start of Semester Two, they will be required to pay a fee of \$50.00 if they wish to have a parking space. This will only apply if there are parking spaces still available for occupation.

Students should note that if they are going to be using a vehicle other than the one registered with the school, they should notify the main office. If this is a permanent change the new registration must be provided to the office and if their sticker is not transferrable, a replacement sticker must be purchased for a \$5.00 fee. If this is a one-time occurrence, please register the vehicle for the day in the main office.

#### Students are not allowed to transfer parking spaces to other students.

Please be advised that parking at Groton-Dunstable Regional High School is a PRIVILEGE and the fee of \$100.00 does not guarantee a specific space. Therefore, if a student's parking privileges are revoked they will be assigned a new spot based upon availability at the time of their reinstatement.

Seniors participating in a full-time internship and only required to meet with their advisor once a week, may be issued student intern parking in lieu of their registered space. This will only occur if the student parking lots have been completely sold out and there is a need for additional student parking on a daily basis. Senior Interns will be contacted if this situation will occur and all are guaranteed parking.

#### **Parking Violations**

- Any vehicle that is improperly parked in the faculty parking lot, parked in visitor or handicapped spot or is missing a valid parking sticker is subject to towing or booting at the owner's expense. No prior warning is necessary. This also applies to vehicles of students whose parking privileges have been revoked.
- Any vehicle that is parked in another student's spot or anywhere else but their own spot will receive a minimum of 4 detentions and may lose their parking privileges.
- Any student with more than 6 unexcused tardies per term, is subject to having their parking privileges revoked for the remainder of that term.
- Any student who uses their vehicle to leave school grounds without permission will have their parking privileges revoked and may be suspended.

#### Disciplinary actions and parking revocation

Students who have or could endanger the safety of others may have their parking privileges revoked permanently. Students found with drugs, alcohol or weapons or anything else that infringes upon the safety of students, particularly in their cars, may have their parking privileges revoked.

#### Seat Belt Use

- As per state law, seat belts are required to be worn while operating a vehicle.
- Any operator responsible for a violation of the above is subject to receiving: a written warning and 2 weeks loss of parking privileges.
- Repeat infraction will result in notification of the driver's parents and possible permanent revocation of parking eligibility.

Any student who violates the Safe Operation Policy may lose parking privileges. Any student who violates the Safety Belt Use Policy may lose parking privileges. All moving and standing motor vehicle violations could result in a ticket from the Police Department.

# **Section 12: Bullying**

Bullying and retaliation are strictly prohibited in Groton-Dunstable Public Schools. Acts of bullying, which includes acts of cyberbullying, are prohibited:

- On school grounds and property immediately adjacent to school grounds, at a school-sponsored or school--related activity, function, or program whether on or off school grounds, at a school bus stop, on a school bus or other vehicle owned, leased, or used by a school district or school; or through the use of technology or an electronic device owned, leased, or used by a school district or school; and
- At a location, activity, function, or program that is not school--related through
  the use of technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased, or used by
  a school district or school, if the acts create a hostile environment at school for
  the target or witnesses, infringe on their rights at school, or materially and
  substantially disrupt the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

Retaliation against a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, witnesses or has reliable information about bullying is also prohibited. GDRSD will investigate bullying, cyberbullying and retaliation incidents in a fair, timely, and thorough manner while being mindful of personal privacy rights and the stigma that a student may incur from being labeled in some way or another. Verified incidents of bullying, in all its forms, will be dealt with firmly. Dispositions will begin with education and, when deemed necessary, will move to progressively sterner measures.

### Reporting Bullying, Cyberbullying or Retaliation

Reports of bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation may be made by staff, students, parents or guardians, or others, and may be oral or written. Oral reports made by or to a staff member will be recorded in writing. A school or district staff member shall immediately report to the principal or to the principal's designee any instance of bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation he/she becomes aware of or witnesses.

All bullying referrals will be evaluated and/or investigated. Reports made by students, parents or guardians, or other individuals who are not school or district staff members, may be made anonymously without disclosing the aggressor. Each school will make a variety of reporting resources available to the school community.

### Reporting by Staff

As staff members become aware of or witness conduct that may be regarded as bullying or retaliation, he/she shall respond to the incident and report it to the designated school personnel per district policies.

#### Reporting by Students, Parents or Guardians, and Others

In an effort to keep its students safe, the GDRSD believes it is the responsibility of students, parents or guardians, and others who witness or become aware of an instance of bullying or retaliation involving a student, to report it to designated school personnel

as soon as possible. Reports that are made anonymously will be investigated before any contact is made with the aggressor or the target.

A student who knowingly makes a false allegation of bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation will be subject to disciplinary action as determined by the Principal or his/her designee.

# Responding to a Report of Bullying, Cyberbullying or Retaliation Safety

Once an initial report of bullying or retaliation has been brought to the attention of school personnel, the designated school personnel will take appropriate action(s) to maintain a sense of safety for all parties involved in the report, including the target, the aggressor and the reporting party (if it is a student). Once designated school personnel have made a determination regarding the validity of the report, additional steps and modifications will be made to keep students safe.

In creating a safety plan, appropriate accommodations may be indicated to limit the interaction between the target and the aggressor throughout the course of the school day. This would include but is not limited to, the classroom setting, the cafeteria, recess and school bus seating assignment.

The Principal or his/her designee will implement safeguards to ensure that all students involved in the incident are protected during the course of the investigation process. All students will be reminded by the Principal or his/her designee that retaliation is strictly prohibited and will result in disciplinary action.

# **Obligations to Notify Others**

Notice to Parents or Guardians. Once an assessment of bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation has been made and been deemed valid, the Principal or his/her designee will immediately inform the parent(s) or guardian of the target and the aggressor of the incident. At this time, parents/guardians will also be informed of the investigation and disciplinary procedures that may follow. There may be incidents where parents are notified prior to the investigation. Notice will be consistent with state regulations at 603 CMR 49.00.

Notice to Another School or District. If the reported incident involves students from more than one school district, charter school, non-public school, approved private special education day or residential school, or collaborative school, the Principal or his/her designee first informed of the incident will promptly notify by telephone the Principal or designee of the other school(s) of the incident so that each school may take appropriate action. All communications will be in accordance with state and federal privacy laws and regulations, and 603 CMR 49.00.

<u>Notice to Law Enforcement</u>. At any point after receiving and/or investigating a report of bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation, if the Principal or the principal's designee determines that criminal charges may be warranted, the principal will notify the local law enforcement agency of said incident. Notice will be consistent with the

requirements of 603 CMR 49.00 and locally established agreements with the local law enforcement agency.

If an incident occurs on school grounds and involves a former student under the age of 21 who is no longer enrolled in school, the principal or the principal's designee will contact the local law enforcement agency if he or she has reasonable evidence to believe that criminal charges may be pursued against the aggressor.

### **Investigation**

The Principal or his/her designee will promptly investigate all reports of bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation and, in doing so, will consider all available information known, including the nature of the allegation(s) and the ages of the students involved.

During the investigation, the Principal or his/her designee will interview students, staff, witnesses and parents or guardians. The Principal or his/her designee will remind the alleged aggressor, target, and all witnesses that retaliation is strictly prohibited and may result in disciplinary action. Interviews will be conducted by the Principal or his/her designee, in consultation with the school counselor. To the extent practicable, the Principal or his/her designee will maintain confidentiality throughout the investigative process and will maintain a written record of the investigation.

#### **Determinations**

If the incident is verified to be bullying, cyberbullying or retaliation, an immediate meeting will be arranged by the school official with the aggressor and the aggressor's parents or guardians. In the meeting, it will be made clear to both the aggressor and the aggressor's parents or guardians that bullying, cyberbullying and/or retaliation will not be tolerated in the Groton-Dunstable Regional School District. A meeting may also take place with the target and target's parents or guardians.

Depending on the level of the incident, local authorities may be informed of such incident(s) and the school will follow the recommendation from local authorities in resolving the continued behavior of the aggressor.

Upon completion of an investigation of bullying, the parents of the alleged target and aggressor shall be notified in writing of the determination of the Principal, or designee, regarding a complaint of bullying that is investigated. Said written determination shall inform the target of the target's right to access the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education's Problem Resolution System if the target believes that the investigation and/or determination was not conducted in accordance with applicable laws and the Groton-Dunstable Regional School District's Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan.

# **Responses to Bullying**

Bullying behavior can take many forms and can vary dramatically in its level of seriousness and what impact it has on the target and other students. Accordingly, there is no one prescribed response to verified acts of bullying. While conduct that rises to the

level of "bullying," as defined in this Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan, will generally warrant disciplinary action against the aggressor, whether and to what extent disciplinary actions are imposed (e.g., detention, suspension, etc.) is a matter for the professional discretion of the Principal or his/her designee. No disciplinary action will be taken solely on the basis of an anonymous complaint. District administrators will integrate a range of responses that balance the need for accountability with the need to teach appropriate behavior. The needs and safety of the target will also be considered as part of restoring resolution to the bullying matter.

Verified acts of bullying shall result in intervention by the building Principal or his/her designee and will address the acts of the aggressor and the needs of the target and assure the sanction against bullying behavior is enforced with the goal that the bullying behavior will cease and desist. The expectations and consequences for non-compliance will be documented in a Bullying/Cyberbullying Contract Agreement for the aggressor, and must be signed by the aggressor and his/her parents or guardians. The aggressor may be required to meet with a school counselor in an effort to learn about the dangers and life consequences of bullying and how it may affect the aggressor, bystanders and the target. During these sessions, the aggressor will work on his/her social skills development and be taught how to promote self-control and empathy. The Principal or his/her designee will also meet with the target and the target's parents/guardians, to go over a Safety Plan which documents actions to ensure safety for the target.

#### The following are possible interventions for bullying incidents:

Non-disciplinary Interventions may include

- Meeting with parents/guardians to engage parental support
- Counseling
- Increased supervision and monitoring of student to observe and intervene in bullying situations
- Peer Mentoring
- Life Skills Groups
- Role Playing Activities
- Research Projects
- Skill-building lessons in courtesy, tolerance, assertiveness, and conflict management.

Disciplinary Interventions may include detention, in school suspension, out of school suspension, community service, and/or judiciary committee.

The Principal or his/her designee will make determinations regarding how to integrate the target back into the school environment and whether adjustments need to be made to ensure his/her safety (i.e., increased staff supervision, classroom seating changes, bus changes, etc.).

Following a verified incident of bullying, the Principal or his/her designee will meet with the target to ensure that he/she is safe and to determine whether there has been a

recurrence of the prohibited conduct. If so, the Principal or his/her designee will work with appropriate school staff to implement additional supportive measures immediately. Where an eligible student with a disability is found to have engaged in or to have been the target of bullying, the student's IEP or Section 504 Team shall be convened to consider the impact of such bullying upon the student's educational services and the need for additional services or support to enable the student to avoid further bullying.

# **Section 13: Harassment**

The Groton-Dunstable Regional School District strictly prohibits discrimination and/or harassment on the basis of race, color, sex, gender identity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, pregnancy or parenting status or homelessness and will promptly investigate and respond to all complaints of discriminatory harassment in accordance with applicable state and federal laws and regulations. M.G.L. c. 76, § 5.

Any individual who witnesses, becomes aware of, or believes that they have been subjected to harassment or discrimination on the basis race, color, sex, gender identity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, pregnancy or parenting status or homelessness should immediately contact the building Principal.

Retaliation against any individual who has filed a harassment complaint or assisted or participated in a harassment investigation or proceeding, is strictly prohibited. A student who is found to have retaliated against another in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including long-term suspension from school.

# **Section 14: Student Conduct and Discipline**

# **Student Discipline Guidelines**

Good behavior and classroom discipline are imperative if learning is to take place. The purpose of Groton Dunstable High School's Policies and Standards for Behavior is to ensure a safe and orderly environment for everyone. These rules are in effect for all GDRHS students, regardless of their age, while at school and at all school sponsored events.

Students, parents and teachers should be aware that the school administration reserves the right to impose greater or lesser consequences for violations of school rules based upon individual consideration of the facts and circumstances of any disciplinary violation found to have occurred. Administrators will be the final arbitrator in all disciplinary actions. When more than one response is available, the school administrator will use the most appropriate choice according to the severity of the offense(s) and all other factors involved in the incident.

#### Disciplinary Due Process

All students will be provided with due process prior to the imposition of an in-school suspension, out-of-school suspension or expulsion except where circumstances

necessitate the student's emergency removal from school grounds for up to two (2) school days.

#### **Definitions**

<u>Expulsion</u>: the removal of a student from the school premises and/or regular classroom activities for more than ninety (90) consecutive school days, indefinitely, or permanently, as permitted under M.G.L. c. 71, § 37H or 37H½.

<u>In-School Suspension</u>: the removal of a student from regular classroom activities, but not from the school premises, for no more than (10) consecutive school days, or no more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple infractions during the school year. \* Removal solely from participation in extracurricular activities or school-sponsored events, or both, shall not constitute a suspension.

<u>Long-Term Suspension</u>: the removal of a student from the school premises and regular classroom activities for more than ten (10) consecutive school days, or for more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple disciplinary offenses, in any school year.

<u>Written Notice</u>: Written correspondence sent by hand-delivery, certified mail, firstclass mail, email to an address provided by the parent for school communications, or any other method of delivery agreed to by the principal and the parent.

<u>Principal</u>: The primary administrator of the school or the Principal's designee for disciplinary purposes.

#### **Procedures**

<u>In-School Suspension</u>: Prior to the imposition of an In-School Suspension, the student will be informed of the disciplinary offense and provided with an opportunity to respond. If the Principal determines that the student committed the disciplinary offense, the Principal will provide oral notice to the student and to the student's parent(s) of the length of the In-School Suspension and will make reasonable efforts to meet with the parent(s). On or before the day of the In-School Suspension, the Principal will deliver written notice to the parent(s) of the basis for and length of the in-school suspension and inviting the parent(s) to meet to discuss the student's behavior if such a meeting has not already occurred. A student has the right to appeal an in-school suspension only to the extent that it will result in the student's in-school suspension for more than ten (10) school days in a school year.

<u>Out-of-School Suspension:</u> In the case of disciplinary offenses **not** involving: a) possession of a dangerous weapon; b) possession of a controlled substance; c) assault on a member of the educational staff; or d) a felony charge or felony delinquency complaint or conviction, the student and parent(s) will be given oral and written notice of the disciplinary offense with which the student is charged and of their opportunity to participate in a hearing prior to the imposition of an out-of-school suspension. Written notice of the date and time for the hearing will be provided in English and in the

primary language of the Student's home and will identify the disciplinary offense with which the student has been charged, the basis for the charge, the potential length of the student's suspension, and shall inform the parent and student of the right to interpreter services if necessary to participate in the hearing. Student's and/or parents do not have the right to representation by an attorney at a short-term suspension hearing. Where a student may be subject to a Long-Term Suspension, however, the Principal will notify the student and parent(s) of the student's right to legal representation (at private expense), the right to present and examine witnesses at the hearing, the right to review the student record and documents that may be relied upon by the Principal, and the right to request that the hearing be audiotaped.

For disciplinary offenses involving a) possession of a dangerous weapon; b) possession of a controlled substance; c) assault on a member of the educational staff; or d) a felony charge or felony delinquency complaint or conviction, the student will be given oral notice of the violation with which the student is charged and an opportunity to respond thereto, prior to the Principal's imposition of a short-term suspension or an interim suspension of ten (10) consecutive days or less pending formal proceedings. Upon imposition of an interim suspension of ten (10) consecutive days or less pending further disciplinary proceedings, the student and parents will be provided with written notice of the suspension and the date and time of any formal disciplinary proceedings.

#### **Principal's Hearings**

<u>Short-Term Suspension:</u> At the Principal's hearing, the student and parents (if participating) may dispute the charge(s) against the student and present information, including mitigating facts, for the principal's consideration in determining consequences for the student.

<u>Long-Term Suspension</u>: In addition to the rights afforded a student in a short-term suspension hearing, the student will have the following rights:

- the right to be represented by an attorney or advocate at the student's/parent's expense;
- the right to review the student's record and the documents upon which the Principal may rely in making a determination to suspend the student or not
- the right to produce witnesses on his or her behalf and to present the student's explanation of the alleged incident;
- the right to cross-examine witnesses presented by the school district;
- the right to request that the hearing be recorded by the Principal, and to receive a copy of the audio recording upon request.

# **Principal's Decision**

Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, the Principal will determine whether the student committed the disciplinary offense and the remedy or consequences to be imposed. The Principal shall exercise discretion in deciding the consequence for the offense and, in cases not involving possession of a controlled substance, a weapon, an assault on staff or felony charges, shall avoid using long-term suspension from school as a consequence until alternatives have been tried. If the Principal decides to suspend or expel the student, written notice of the Principal's decision will be sent to the student and parents in English and the primary language of the home identifying the disciplinary offense, the factual basis for the Principal's decision, the beginning and end dates of the suspension or expulsion, and the process for appeal. The Principal will also notify the student and parent of the student's opportunity to make academic progress during the period of removal from school in accordance with M.G.L. c. 76, § 21.

Prior to suspending a student in grades K-3 from school, the Principal will send a copy of the written determination to the superintendent and explain the reasons for imposing an out-of-school suspension, whether short-term or long-term, before the suspension takes effect.

#### **Appeals**

A student's long-term suspension by the Principal in accordance with M.G.L. c.71 § 37H may be appealed in writing to the Superintendent of Schools within ten (10) calendar days from the effective date of the long-term suspension. A student shall not have a right to appeal any suspension that will result in the Student's suspension in or out of school for ten cumulative days or less in a school year.

For suspensions or expulsions imposed pursuant to M.G.L. c.71 § 37H1/2, the student shall have five (5) school days from the effective date of the exclusion to file a written appeal with the superintendent. For suspensions or expulsions imposed pursuant to M.G.L c.71, §37H3/4, the Student shall have five (5) calendar days from the effective date of the suspension imposed by the Principal to appeal but shall be granted an extension of seven (7) calendar days upon request.

#### **Academic Progress**

Any student who is serving an in-school suspension, short-term suspension, long-term suspension, or expulsion shall have the opportunity to earn credits, as applicable, make up assignments, tests, papers, and other school work as needed to make academic progress during the period of the student's removal from the classroom or school. Any student who is expelled or suspended from school for more than ten (10) consecutive days, whether in school or out of school, shall have an opportunity to receive education services and make academic progress toward meeting state and local requirements, in accordance with the school's Education Services Plan. M.G.L. c. 76 §21.

# **Emergency Removal**

When a student is charged with a disciplinary offense and the continued presence of the student poses a danger to persons or property, or materially and substantially disrupts the order of the school, and, in the principal's judgment, there is no alternative available to alleviate the danger or disruption. The student may be removed from school on an emergency basis and without prior written notice of a hearing at which the parents may be present. Such an emergency removal shall be temporary and shall not exceed two school days following the day of the emergency removal.

Upon determining that a student requires removal from school on an emergency basis, the Principal will orally notify the student and the student's parent(s) of the emergency removal and the reasons therefor and of a hearing to be conducted prior to the conclusion of the second school day following the student's emergency removal. The Principal will then provide written notice to the parent(s) and student of the emergency removal and of the hearing to be conducted within two (2) school days. Such written

notice will inform the student of the student's rights at said hearing depending on whether the student may be subject to short-term or long-term suspension from school.

For additional information, please see Appendices - Massachusetts Laws - Student Conduct and Behavior.

#### **Discipline and Students with Disabilities**

The following procedures apply to the suspension of students with disabilities when suspensions exceed 10 consecutive schools days or when the student is, as a result of a pattern of disciplinary removal resulting in the student's suspension in excess of ten (10) cumulative school days in the school year, subject to a disciplinary change in placement.

- Prior to a suspension that would result in a disciplinary change in placement of a student with a disability, building administrators, the parents and relevant members of the student's IEP or Section 504 Team will convene to determine whether the violation for which the student is subject to a disciplinary change in placement was caused by or directly and substantially related to the student's disability or was the direct result of a failure to implement the student's IEP or Section 504 Plan.
- If the Team determines that the behavior is NOT a manifestation of the student's disability, the student may be disciplined in accordance with the policies and procedures applicable to all students except that students eligible for special education services shall be entitled to a free appropriate public education as of the eleventh (11th) day of disciplinary exclusion in the school year. Where a student's conduct is found not to be a manifestation of the student's disability, a functional behavior assessment may be conducted where appropriate and with the written consent of a parent.
- If the team determines that the behavior IS a manifestation of the student's disability, the student will not be suspended or expelled for the violation found to be a manifestation of his/her disability although the Student may be subject to a forty-five (45) school day unilateral removal for certain offenses. Upon determination that a student's conduct was a manifestation of the student's disability, the Student's IEP or Section 504 Team will conduct a review of the student's behavior intervention plan, if any, and/or will conduct a functional behavior assessment of the student with the written consent of the student's parent.
- Regardless of the manifestation determination, the school district may place the student in an interim alternative setting (as determined by the Team) up to forty-five (45) school days if:
  - 1. The student is in possession of a <u>dangerous weapon</u> on school grounds or at school-sponsored events;
  - 2. The student is in <u>possession of or using of illegal drugs</u> on school grounds or at school-sponsored events;

- 3. The student engaged in <u>solicitation of a controlled substance</u> on school grounds or at school-sponsored events; or
- 4. The student <u>inflicted serious bodily injury</u> to another at school or at school-sponsored events.

The interim alternative setting must enable the student to participate in the general curriculum, progress toward the goals in the IEP, and receive the special education and related services contained in the student's IEP. The interim alternative setting must also provide services and modifications designed to address the behavior giving rise to the removal and to prevent the behavior from reoccurring.

At the conclusion of the forty-five (45) school day period, the student shall be returned to his/her previous placement unless the parent (or student if 18+) consents to an extension of the interim alternative setting or an Order is obtained from the Bureau of Special Education Appeal authorizing the student's continued removal.

If the conduct does not involve a dangerous weapon, controlled substance, or serious bodily injury, the school may remove the student to an interim alternative setting for 45 days only: 1) with parental consent *or* 2) by obtaining authorization from a court or the Bureau of Special Education Appeals (BSEA).

#### **Appeals**

A parent or adult student shall have the right to appeal the Team's determination, the imposition of a disciplinary change in placement, and the student's placement in an interim alternative educational setting by filing a request for Hearing with the Massachusetts Bureau of Special Education Appeals, One Congress Street, Boston MA 02108. The student will remain in the disciplinary placement imposed by school authorities pending a decision on the appeal or until the expiration of the disciplinary sanction, whichever comes first.

## **Searches of Students and Student Belongings**

A search of a student will only be performed, and seizure of a student's belongings will only take place, if there exists reasonable suspicion that the student has violated or is violating either the law or the rules of the school. The search will be conducted in a manner reasonably related to its objectives and will not be excessively intrusive in light of the age and sex of the student and the nature of the infraction. Whenever a personal search is deemed necessary, the student shall be advised of the reason for the search prior to the search being conducted. Searches of student may extend to articles of clothing such as pockets and outer garments and to items such as pocketbooks, lunch bags, book bags, athletic bags, or backpacks.

A search of a student's belongings or of a student's automobile parked on school property will only be performed, and seizure of a student's belongings will only take place, if there exists reasonable suspicion that the student has violated or is violating

either the law or the rules of the school. The search will be conducted in a manner reasonably related to its objectives and will not be excessively intrusive in light of the age and sex of the student and the nature of the infraction. When reasonably possible, searches of a student's belongings not in the immediate possession of the student or of a student's automobile parked on school property will be conducted in the presence of the student and a second school official. The use of canines on the exterior of vehicles or other items to detect odors do not constitute a search.

Should a student refuse to voluntarily comply with a request for a search, the student will be required to remain in the Main Office until the parents, and, if necessary, law enforcement authorities remove the student from school grounds

A search of a student or a student's property may be conducted at school or at any school sponsored event on or off of school grounds or during the transportation to and from school or school-sponsored events.

#### Searches of Student Lockers

School lockers are the property of the Groton-Dunstable Regional School District. Students shall not have any expectation of privacy in the contents of their school lockers and should be aware that school lockers may be searched at any time by school officials where there is a reasonable suspicion that the student's locker contains prohibited items or materials or evidence of violation of applicable laws and/or school rules and policies.

# **Appendix A - Massachusetts Laws relative to Student Conduct and Behavior**

# II. M.G.L. c.71, § 37H - Possession of Drugs, Weapons and Assaults of School Staff

In accordance with Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 71, Section 37H:

- **(A)** Any student who is found on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, in possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or a knife; or a controlled substance as defined in chapter ninety-four C, including, but not limited to, marijuana, cocaine, and heroin, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- **(B)** Any student who assaults a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide, or other educational staff on school premises or school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- **(C)** Any student who is charged with a violation of either paragraph (a) or (b) shall be notified in writing of an opportunity for a hearing provided, however, that the student may have representation, along with the opportunity to present evidence and witnesses at said hearing before the principal. After said hearing, a principal may, in his discretion, decide to suspend rather than expel a student who has been determined by the principal to have violated either paragraph (a) or (b).
- **(D)** Any student who has been expelled from a school district pursuant to these provisions shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent. The expelled student shall have ten days from the date of the expulsion in which to notify the superintendent of his appeal. The student has the right to counsel at a hearing before the superintendent. The subject matter of the appeal shall not be limited solely to a factual determination of whether the student has violated any provisions of this section.
- **(E)** When a student is expelled under the provisions of this section, no school or school district within the commonwealth shall be required to admit such student or to provide educational services to said student. If said student does apply for admission to another school or school district, the superintendent of the school district to which the application is made may request and shall receive from the superintendent of the school expelling said student a written statement of the reasons for said expulsion.

#### II. M.G.L. c.71, § 37H1/2 – Felony Charges

(1) Upon the issuance of a criminal complaint charging a student with a felony or upon the issuance of a felony delinquency complaint against a student, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may suspend such student for a period of time determined appropriate by said principal or headmaster if said principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and the reasons for such suspension prior to

such suspension taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such suspension; provided, however, that such suspension shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the suspension to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent in writing of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the suspension. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the student's request for an appeal. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the suspension.

(2) Upon a student being convicted of a felony or upon an adjudication or admission in court of guilt with respect to such a felony or felony delinquency, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may expel said student if such principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and reasons for such expulsion prior to such expulsion taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such expulsion; provided, however, that the expulsion shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the expulsion to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent, in writing, of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the expulsion. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the expulsion. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the expulsion.

Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion, under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student under an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.

#### III. M.G.L. c.71, § 37H3/4.

- (a) This section shall govern the suspension and expulsion of students enrolled in a public school in the commonwealth who are not charged with a violation of subsections (a) or (b) of section 37H or with a felony under section 37H1/2.
- (b) Any principal, headmaster, superintendent or other person acting as a decision-maker at a student meeting or hearing, when deciding the consequences for the student, shall exercise discretion; consider ways to re-engage the student in the learning process; and avoid using expulsion as a consequence until other remedies and consequences have been employed.
- (c) For any suspension or expulsion under this section, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled, or a designee, shall provide, to the student and to the parent or guardian of the student, notice of the charges and the reason for the suspension or expulsion in English and in the primary language spoken in the home of the student. The student shall receive the written notification and shall have the opportunity to meet with the principal or headmaster, or a designee, to discuss the charges and reasons for the suspension or expulsion prior to the suspension or expulsion taking effect. The principal or headmaster, or a designee, shall ensure that the parent or guardian of the student is included in the meeting, provided that such meeting may take place without the parent or guardian only if the principal or headmaster, or a designee, can document reasonable efforts to include the parent or guardian in that meeting. The department shall promulgate rules and regulations that address a principal's duties under this subsection and procedures for including parents in student exclusion meetings, hearings or interviews under this subsection.
- (d) If a decision is made to suspend or expel the student after the meeting, the principal or headmaster, or a designee, shall update the notification for the suspension or expulsion to reflect the meeting with the student. If a student has been suspended or expelled for more than 10 school days for a single infraction or for more than 10 school days cumulatively for multiple infractions in any school year, the student and the parent or guardian of the student shall also receive, at the time of the suspension or expulsion decision, written notification of a right to appeal and the process for appealing the suspension or expulsion in English and in the primary language spoken in the home of the student; provided, however, that the suspension or expulsion shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing. The principal or headmaster or a designee shall notify the superintendent in writing, including, but not limited to, by electronic means, of any outof-school suspension imposed on a student enrolled in kindergarten through grade 3 prior to such suspension taking effect. That notification shall describe the student's alleged misconduct and the reasons for suspending the student out-of-school. For the purposes of this section, the term "out-of-school suspension" shall mean a disciplinary action imposed by school officials to remove a student from participation in school activities for 1 day or more.
- (e) A student who has been suspended or expelled from school for more than 10 school days for a single infraction or for more than 10 school days cumulatively for multiple

infractions in any school year shall have the right to appeal the suspension or expulsion to the superintendent. The student or a parent or guardian of the student shall notify the superintendent in writing of a request for an appeal not later than 5 calendar days following the effective date of the suspension or expulsion; provided, that a student and a parent or guardian of the student may request, and if so requested, shall be granted an extension of up to 7 calendar days. The superintendent or a designee shall hold a hearing with the student and the parent or guardian of the student within 3 school days of the student's request for an appeal; provided that a student or a parent or guardian of the student may request and, if so requested, shall be granted an extension of up to 7 calendar days; provided further, that the superintendent, or a designee, may proceed with a hearing without a parent or guardian of the student if the superintendent, or a designee, makes a good faith effort to include the parent or guardian. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony, cross-examine witnesses and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal in writing within 5 calendar days of the hearing. That decision shall be the final decision of the school district with regard to the suspension or expulsion.

(f) No student shall be suspended or expelled from a school or school district for a time period that exceeds 90 school days, beginning the first day the student is removed from an assigned school building.

# IV. M.G.L. c.76, §21 – Academic Progress for Students Suspended or Expelled

Principals and headmasters shall ensure that students who are suspended from school for 10 or fewer consecutive days, whether in or out of school, shall have an opportunity to make academic progress during the period of suspension, to make up assignments and earn credits missed including, but not limited to, homework, quizzes, exams, papers and projects missed. Principals shall develop a school-wide education service plan for all students who are expelled or suspended from school for more than 10 consecutive school days, whether in or out of school. Principals shall ensure these students have an opportunity to make academic progress during the period of suspension or expulsion, to make up assignments and earn credits missed, including, but not limited to, homework, quizzes, exams, papers and projects missed. Education service plans may include, but are not limited to, tutoring, alternative placement, Saturday school, and online or distance learning. In developing the education service plan, principals may seek the cooperation or input of relevant health and human service, housing and nonprofit agencies education collaboratives, and other service providers. Any school or school district that expels a student or suspends a student for more than 10 consecutive school days shall provide the student and the parent or guardian of the student with a list of alternative educational services. Upon selection of an alternative educational service by the student and the student's parent or guardian, the school or school district shall facilitate and verify enrollment in the service. Students exempt from attending school under section 1 of chapter 76 shall not be subject to this section.

# V. M.G.L. c.71, §37L – Reporting of Incidents involving Weapons / Transfer Student Records

Section 37L. The school committee of each city, town or regional school district shall inform teachers, administrators, and other professional staff of reporting requirements for child abuse and neglect under section 51A of chapter 119 and the reporting requirements for fires under section 2A of chapter 148. In addition, any school department personnel shall report in writing to their immediate supervisor an incident involving a student's possession or use of a dangerous weapon on school premises at any time.

Supervisors who receive such a weapon report shall file it with the superintendent of said school, who shall file copies of said weapon report with the local chief of police, the department of children and families, the office of student services or its equivalent in any school district, and the local school committee. Said superintendent, police chief, and representative from the department of children and families, together with a representative from the office of student services or its equivalent, shall arrange an assessment of the student involved in said weapon report. Said student shall be referred to a counseling program; provided, however, that said counseling shall be in accordance with acceptable standards as set forth by the board of education. Upon completion of a counseling session, a follow-up assessment shall be made of said student by those involved in the initial assessment.

A student transferring into a local system must provide the new school system with a complete school record of the entering student. Said record shall include, but not be limited to, any incidents involving suspension or violation of criminal acts or any incident reports in which such student was charged with any suspended act.

### VI. M.G.L. c. 269, § 17. Crime of Hazing: Definition: Penalty

Whoever is a principal organizer or participant in the crime of hazing, as defined herein, shall be punished by a fine of not more than three thousand dollars or by imprisonment in a house of correction for not more than one year, or both such fine and imprisonment.

The term "hazing as used in this section and in sections eighteen and nineteen, shall mean any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization, whether on public or private property, which willfully or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health of any student or other person. Such conduct shall include whipping, beating, branding, forced calisthenics, exposure to the weather, forced consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug or other substance, or any other brutal treatment or forced physical activity which is likely to adversely affect the physical health or safety of any such student or other person, or which subjects such student or other person to extreme mental stress, including extended deprivation of sleep or rest or extended isolation.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this section to the contrary, consent shall not be available as a defense to any prosecution under this action. Added by St. 1985, c. 536; amended by St. 1987, c. 665.

#### M.G.L. c. 269, § 18. Duty to Report Hazing

Whoever knows that another person is the victim of hazing as defined in section

seventeen and is at the scene of such crime shall, to the extent that such person can do so without danger or peril to himself or others, report such crime to an appropriate law enforcement official as soon as reasonably practicable. Whoever fails to report such crime shall be punished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars. Added by St. 1985, c. 536; amended by St. 1987, c. 665.

#### M.G.L. c. 269, § 19. Hazing Statutes to be Provided;

Each institution of secondary education and each public and private institution of postsecondary education shall issue to every student group, student team or student organization which is part of such institution or is recognized by the institution or permitted by the institution to use its name or facilities or is known by the institution to exist as an unaffiliated student group, student team or student organization, a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen; provided, however, that an institution's compliance with this section's requirements that an institution issue copies of this section and section seventeen and eighteen to unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations shall not constitute evidence of the institution's recognition or endorsement of said unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations.

Each such group, team or organization shall distribute a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to each of its members, plebes, pledges or applicants for membership. It shall be the duty of each such group, team or organization, acting through its designated officer, to deliver annually, to the institution an attested acknowledgement stating that such group, team or organization has received a copy of this section and said sections seventeen and eighteen, that each of its members, plebes, pledges, or applicants has received a copy of sections seventeen and eighteen, and that such group, team or organization understands and agrees to comply with the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of postsecondary education shall, at least annually, before or at the start of enrollment, deliver to each person who enrolls as a full time student in such institution a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of post-secondary education shall file, at least annually, a report with the regents of higher education and in the case of secondary schools, the board of education, certifying that such institution has complied with its responsibility to inform student groups, teams or organizations and to notify each full time student enrolled by it of the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen and also certifying that said institution has adopted a disciplinary policy with regard to the organizers and participants of hazing, and that such policy has been set forth with appropriate emphasis in the student handbook or similar means of communicating the institution's policies to its students. The board of regents and, in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education shall promulgate regulations governing the content and frequency of such reports and shall forthwith report to the attorney general any such institution, which fails to make such report. Added by St. 1985, c. 536; amended by St. 1987, c. 665.